Hicks / Hix court records in Goochland County, VA 1700s, naming Whitlock too

Goochland County Hix (Hicks) before 1820

Goochland County (formed 1727) Hix (Hicks) before 1820; Henrico County (1634); Parishes: Varina Parish (founded
1611 Henrico County), King William Parish (1728-1749); Saint James Northam Parish (1744-), Saint James's Parish
(1728- 1744), Saint James Southam Parish (1744-1749). From its original territory came Albemarle Co., Amherst
Co., (part of) Appomattox Co., Bedford Co., Buckingham Co., Campbell Co., Cumberland Co., Fluvanna Co., Nelson
Co., & Powhatan Co.

[There were a whole lot of Hicks in Goochland Co., Virginia- located just 30 miles northwest of Richmond on the
Northern bank of the James River. Goochland County was officially created February 1, 1727 from Henrico County,
one of the first seven shires created in 1634 by the House of Burgess. Goochland was named after Sir William
Gooch, the royal lieutenant governor from 1727 to 1749. Goochland originally included all of the land from
Tuckahoe Creek, on both sides of the James River, west as far as the Blue Ridge Mountains.

R. Matteson 2014]

St. James Northam, Goochland County [Meade]

Goochland County was cut off from Henrico in 1727. In the year 1744 the parish of St. James Northam, was
restricted to the north side of the river, and that on the south side was called St. James Southam, both of them
being in Goochland, which still lay on both sides of the river, and extended from the Louisa line to Appomattox
River. Albemarle county and parish were also in this year taken from Goochland, by a line from Louisa to the
Appomattox. We shall now speak of the parish of St. James Northam, in Goochland, on the north of James River.
The vestry-book which we have commences at its division in 1744. How long it had been supplied with services
before this we are unable to ascertain.



Attached to this page are Goochland County Records; deeds and births and marriages of the Hicks family.

Chesapeake Bay

Atlantic Oceahn

Map of Colonial Virginia 1637 Henrico County (Goochland) is on far left.

The Samuel Hicks (Hix) family was located on Tuckahoe Creek. Other related family members were also there
including Nathaniel Hicks (reportedly son of John, the doorkeeper) and his large family, Daniel Hicks (reportedly
son of Robert Hicks and Katherine Ragsdale), Marmaduke Hicks, and the family of John Hicks, Nathaniel's brother.

Tuckahoe is an Indian word to denote a plant whose roots are edible and they built a village they called Tuckahoe
on the banks of this creek- located between Goochland County and Henrico Co. (see map below). William

Randolph of Turkey Island granted a tract of land to his son Thomas Randolph that became known as Tuckahoe,
taking its name from the creek and the Indian village.
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Mentioned in Goochland Court Records are Nathaniel's children: Archibald b. 1704 (as Archer or Arch'd); Amos b.
1710 and Stephen b. 1714. Rebecca presents Nathaniel's 1735 will in court there after he died. Samuel and Sarah
Hicks spouse's families appear in Court Records: Whitlows, Woodalls etc.

HICKS FAMILIES- Henrico/Goochland

1. Samuel Hicks/Diana Willis (brother Robert Willis) family: David (moved c. 1750 settles in Watauga Co.),
Goulder, Absalom (moved to Granville Co.), Samuel Hicks, Jr.; Henry m. Zeney (Teney, Elizabeth, Betty) Willis;
Diana Hix m. Nathaniel Whitlow; Agnes Hix m Jacob Woodall.

Samuel Hicks Jr. m. 1st Elizabeth Woodlock then m. Francis Wyatt children: Sgt. David Hix m. Mary Johnson in 1763
d. 1832; Francis Hicks m. John Tatom (Tatum); Absalom m [ ]; Willis Hicks (1738 - ) Wyatt Hicks (1745 - November
7, 1820); Diana

2. Marmaduke Hix (no will) m. Agnes; son Marmaduke and daughter (unknown).

3 a. Nathaniel Hix (d. 1735 see will) m. Rebecca (Rebeckah) family: Archibald (Archer Arch'd); Elce (Elsie); Amos;
Sarah; Stephen and Edith [Nathaniel is attributed to John Hix/Sarah Preston line which is undocumented]

3 b. John Hix (b. c. 1703 d. Cumberland Co, 1776) m. Mary Elizabeth Ervin (Urven, Irving) family: John Hicks Jr. b
1728 Montgomery Co Va ? married Elizabeth Brown; Nathaniel Hicks b 1732 Cumberland Co Va married Jane Scott;
Claiborne Hicks b abt 1763 Married Elizabeth Keesee; Elizabeth Hicks married a Rawlings in Cumberland Co Va.;
Henry Hicks B Cumberland Co. Va. Married Betty Willis (there are now two Henrys in Goochland); Susannah Hicks;
Jesse Hicks . 1730 Cumberland co VA Married Mary Grubs (Jesse had 4 children in Goochland 1770-1776) [John is
attributed to John Hix/Sarah Preston line which is undocumented]

4. Daniel Hix (d. 1735 see will) m Joan family: Lucy Hix (b. 1722 d. 1769) m. Thomas Tillman, Sr. in 1739; Winnifred
(b. 1729) m James Bates in 1746 in Goochland; [Daniel is said to be son of Robert Hix/Katherine Ragsdale union of
1701. Children of Farrar (surety at 1701 wedding) are in Goochland. If Daniel is Robert's son, Robert and Nathaniel
(d. 1935) are brothers. ] [Kennedy writes in 1991: Henry Hicks had at least one brother, Stephen Hicks, whose
wife's name is unknown, but they had at least one son, Daniel Hicks, who was married to Joan Hicks.]

5. John Hix m. Elizabeth (d. 1748, see will) family: David; Thomas Jolly; grandson James Johnson Hix [Gideon Hix]



6. John Hicks m. Mary [?] (d. 1772 see will) family: Meshack Hicks m. Ann Dawson 1765 then Elizabeth Moreland-
1787 in Goochland; David; William m. Elizabeth Harris 1778; Shadrach [Shadrack]; John (Jr.) m. Catey (Katy)
Herndon (d. of John) 1795; Moses m. Elizabeth Johnson- 1786; Harris; Susannah Adams; Carry (Cary m. Clark);
Mary; Davis.

William Hix from Goochland Co., VA. William born abt 1743-44 and died abt. 1836 Goochland. He had the following
children: John, Abner, Ailcy [Elce] and Nancy Hix. His wife was Ann and he fought in the Rev. War. My descent is
from Abner and his wife Jane Holland.

Other families:

1. Harris Family- There are several Harris-Hicks unions, Absalom (Samuel's son) m. Mary Harris, daughter of
Captain Sherwood Harris. John and Mary's son William m. Elizabeth Harris. Kennedy says: He lived in Goochland
County, Virginia but may have been born in Hanover (formerly New Kent) County, Virginia. Sherwood Harris, Sr.
was a first cousin of the Robert Harris who was a member of the Virginia House of Burgess from Hanover Co. On
October 21, 1756 he sold a tract of land located in Goochland County, Virginia. Sherwood Harris, Sr. was probably
born between 1715 and 1718. Mr. Odom believes that he was married twice, the second time to Jane, last name
unknown. His will was dated June 15, 1763 and proved during the August court term in Granville Co. NC. In the will
he mentioned his wife Jane, along with his six children: Sherwood, Jr., Sarah, John, Elizabeth, Ann and Mary
Hicks/Hix. He also mentioned his son-in-law, Absalom Hicks. The executors of Sherwood Harris, Sr.'s will were his
wife, Jane Harris, and his brother, Robert Harris, Sr.

Thomas Gilbert posted: Cary Hicks married Beverly Clark, son of Joseph and Mary Beverly Clark of Louisa County,
Virginia (Doug. Reg. p. 9). The will of Joseph Clark of Louisa County was probated in 1774 and named Beverly Clark
as his son. John Hicks died in Goochland in 1772 [see will below] and named his wife Mary Hicks and among
children was named Cary Clark. The witnesses to the will were Harrison Harris, Booker Parrish and Randolph Harris.
(Goochland Co. deed book 10, pp. 242-243.) Three of Mary Hick's children married the sons of Harrison Harris. One
of them was Elizabeth Harris married to William Randolph Hix, son of John and Mary Hicks. (Goochland County
deed book 16, pp. 463-464.) Harrison Harris, Mary Hicks and her sons gave continuously supplies and services for
the Revolution as shown in the Public Claims. Colonel Benjamin Harrison of Snow Quarters Creek of Goochland
County named in his will of 1790, his daughter Mary Hicks and his granddaughter Elizabeth Hicks. This points out
that the mother of Harrison Harris was a Harrison; it also shows that Mary Hicks was Colonel Benjamin Harrison's
daughter, all of Goochland County. Who was the father of Colonel Benjamin Harrison of Goochland County and
what is his connection? (will: Tylers William and Mary Quarterly Mag. Vol. 18, p. 22. [See below])

HARRISONS OF JAMES RIVER. [Usually Associated with Surry/Brunswick County Hicks)

Which Benjamin Harrison “qualified as County Lieut. of Brunswick Co. 5 July, 1739, took the appointed oaths and
signed the test” (Brunswick CO. Records)? Was it the Wakefield-Brandon Benjamin Harrison, or Benjamin Harrison,
of Brunswick Co., who made his will in 1789 which was proved in 1790. It names sons Thomas Harrison, Benjamin
Harrison, James Harrison, daughter Rita Cook (Mrs. John Cook), Harriet Reese (Mrs. Thomas Reese), Judith Collier
(Mrs. Myhill Collier), Elyn Barnes (Mrs. John Barnes), Rebecca Hicks (Mrs. John Hicks), Mary Hicks (Mrs. Robert
Hicks), grandsons Theophilus Harrison and Robert Harrison, granddaughters Judith Barnes and Elizabeth Hicks.
Sons James and Benjamin Harrison Executors. This last Benjamin was Mrs. Love’s (Frances Harrison’s) father. This
Harrison family were kinsmen of President Wm. Henry Harrison, and of Major Richard Harrison, N. C. militia,
Revolutionary Army (who married Anne Patillo, daughter of Pres. Henry Patillo, Provincial Council, N. C.), and his
brother James Harrison, Revolutionary Army, S. C. (who married Elizabeth Hampton, sister of Gen. Wade Hampton
and of CO1. Henry Hampton of the Revolutionary Army), both of whom were from James River, Va., but | don’t
know in what degree. The Stubbs book makes the statement. | want to know who were the parents of Benjamin
Harrison, who died 1789-90, and if he descended from Benjamin Harrison, the councillor, also the name of his
wife? Family tradition states that the name of the wife of his son Benjamin was Martha Hicks, but one branch of
the family questions this and claim that this Benjamin was Francis Harrison Love’s father. Was Henry Harrison son
of Councillor, who died 1732 twice married? And are the Sussex Co., Va., Harrisons his descendants? His will leaves
his plantation to his nephew, Benjamin Harrison, upon the death of Henry’s wife, who was Elizabeth Smith, and |
always supposed he had no children, but saw in the Times-Dispatch, that the Sussex Harrisons were descended



from him—Mrs. M ary H. Benning, 1420 Broad St., Columbus, Georgia. This Harrison family seems to come from a
family of Harrisons in York County, Va., among whom the names Robert, Richard and James frequently occur. A full
account of them has never been given— Editor,

Francis Clark of Louisa County, Virginia, Page 115:

John Hicks married Ann Harrison, daughter of Benjamin Harrison on November 1771, and witnesses were James
Hicks, and John Ballard. Colonel Benjamin Harrison lived near Snow Quarter Creek of Willis' River, in Goochland
County.

HENRICO COUNTY COURT RECORDS/ DEEDS/MARRIAGES 1600s-1728 (St James Parish)

1675 Oct. 4 Henry Hicks Charles City Co., north side of James, at Gyllie's (Gilles)path near Merriaes path, over
Mongoies Run, to west branch of Herring Creek to a run of Chickahominy

1687 April 20 Henry Hicks Henrico Co., Varina Parish, north side of James, crossing the Round about branch.

Patent to Daniel Hix, dated September 5, 1723, for 275 acres, new land, Henrico County; on North side of James
River; adjoining his own survey; on Russel's & Clerk's lines; James Holeman & Thomas Evans lines, for 30 Shillings.
Virginia Patent Book 11, page 245.

Bk. #1, Part 1:

Pp. 76-71: John Price of Henrico Co., planter Made: 3 Dec 1726; Recorded: 3 Dec 1726; Samuel Hix, same place,
planter

For £ 50 sterling money of England - 69 acres of land on Tuckahoe Creek whereon Samuel Hix now lives - beginning
on the North fork of said creek. Wits.: John Price (mk) Page torn, can't read wf. Hannah examined and relinquished
her dower rts.

(This land was in the part of Henrico Co, that in 1727 became part of Goochland Co.)

Deed and Will B. (no No). 1714-1718:
Pp. 92-93: Joseph Hickes (signed by mk.) and James Shepherd (by mk.) were witnesses to a division of property
between Wm. Shepherd and Richard Baker in 1716.

Pp. 240-241: Jones Gillim, Michael Thomas, Sam'l Hix (signed by "S" mark), John Spear, and James Spear (by mk.)
witnessed a deed (mortgage) from Robert Napier to Nicholas Cox (latter of Chas. City Co.) on 1 Jan 1717 (recorded
4 Apr 1717).

Deed and Will Bk. #2. Part 2 (1725-1737):

Pg. 518 only: Will of George Freeman (made - 3 Oct 1735, recorded - 2 Feb 1736) Legatees: wf. - Jane dans. -
Hannah and Allis sons - John, George, Joseph, Holman; Witnesses: - John Grifin mk.), Thomas Butler (mk.), Arch.
Hix (mk. X), James Holman.

Patent to Daniel Hix, dated September 5, 1723, for 370 acres, new land, Henrico County; on North side of James
River; near Tuckahoe Creek; adjoining Thomas Evans; Maj. Thomas Randolph; the main Road, hard by Buck branch;
Hatcher's line; & Russel's & Clerk's line, for 40 Shillings. Virginia Patent Book 11, page 245, page 246.

Patent to Daniel Hix, dated July 9, 1724, for 400 acres, new land, on North side of James River; & on branches of
Tuckahoe Creek; adjoining John Williams' line; on Leeding Branch; Moses' line, & Mr. Holeman; on Drinking Branch,
for 20 Shillings and importation of 4 persons: John Williams, William Moore, Richard Lane, and Benjamin Wicker.
Virginia Patent Book 12, page 24, page 25.

John Hix [Patent to Marmaduke Hicks & William Moss, dated September 27, 1729, 400 acres, new land, Goochland
County; South side of James River; on East side of the main Deep Creek, for 40 Shillings. Virginia Patent Book 13,
page 387.



Patent to Marmaduke Hix, dated September 28, 1730, for 400 acres, new land, Goochland County; on South side of
James River; on West side of Little Deep Creek; adjoining Samuel Arrinton; David Liles; & Easly's land, for 40
Shillings. Virginia Patent Book 14, page 134, page 135.Clark of Louisa County, Virginia- Page 114: The Power of
Attorney was made to Randolph Harris and the land was sold to Isaac Winston.[583] William Hix who married
Elizabeth Harris, [on May 11, 1778] was the son of John who died in 1772 [584].

GOOCHLAND COUNTY, VIRGINIA COURT RECORDS/MARRIAGES/DEEDS from 1728
COURT RECORD BOOK 1 (1728-1730) - searched page-by-page

Pg. 30: Marmaduke Hix pd. 30 lbs. tobacco for being a wit. for Joseph Bradley against Frederick Cox. John Man and
Thos. Dawson also pd as wits, for Joseph Bradley. (Sept. Ct. 1728)

Marmaduke Hix pd. 30# tobacco as a wit. for John Taylor against John Saunders. Amey Low also pd. as wits, for
Taylor. Bartholomew Stoveall and John Snugs (? - Scruggs) pd. as wits, for Saunders. (Sept. Ct. 1728)

Pg. 34 County Levy Ct - 18 Sept 1728 (gives lists of amts. owed various persons so that taxes to cover these can "be
levied to pay them). Included is Marmarduke Hix - pd. 200 # tobacco for 1 wolf's head. (Sept. Ct. 1728)

Pg. 78 Marmaduke Hix, pit. vs. William Sallee - "case continued at Pit's cost" - doesn't say what about. (Mar. Ct.
1728/9)

Pg. 258 Marmaduke Hix and Wm. Moss acknowledge a deed from them to Nicholas Cox. Agnes, wf. of Hix and
Elizabeth, wf. of Moss are examined by the ct. and relinquish their dower rts, in the land. (June Ct. 1730)"

Marmaduke Hix acknowledges a deed to Wm. Moss. Hix's wife, Agnes relinquishes her dower rts. (same ct.)
Pg. 97: Daniel Hix's negro girl named Fanny, adjudged by the ct. to be 12 yrs. SldL (May Ct. 1729)

Pg. 102: Marmaduke Hix vs. Wm. Sallee. "Nonsuit". (May Ct. 1729)

COURT ORDER BK. 2 (1730-1731) searched page-by-page

Pp. 2-3: Marmaduke Hix appointed surveyor of a road. (July Ct. 1730)

Pg. 24 Daniel Hix acknowledges a deed to James Holman. Hix's wife Joan relinquishes her dower rts. in the land.
(Aug, Ct. 1730)

Daniel Hix acknowledges a deed to Geo. Thompson, Hix's wife Joan relinquishes her dower rts. in the land. (Aug.
Ct. 1730)

Daniel Hix acknowledges a deed to (torn) (but has to be Thos. Goolsby per deed records). Hix's wf. Joan
relinquishes her dower rts. (Aug. Ct. 1730)

Pg. 64: Marmaduke Hix, assignee of Wm, Mayo vs. John Tabor and Bartholomew Stovall plt. won because defts.
didn't show, but defts. have until next ct. to make a plea before judgement is awarded pit.. (Dec Ct, 1730)

Pg. 76: Above case continued. The defts. plead that they owe nothing. (Feb. Ct. 1730)

Pg. 81: Richard Parker, George Stoveall, Luke Wiles, and Wm. Mosely (or any three of them appointed by the ct, to
appraise the estate of John Burgamy. (Mar. Ct. 1730)

Pg. 184: Robert Willis asks to be allowed the funeral charges of Edward Williams. James Holman ordered to pay out



of the estate L.2.6. 31/2 with costs, (Sept. Ct. 1731)

Pg. 193: "Ordered that Mamaduke Hix deliver unto the Church Wardens of St, James Parish, James Lee orphan to
be bound by them according to law." (Sept. Ct. 1731)

Pg. 156: Marmaduke Hax pd, for 7 days attendance as a wit. for John Taylor (deft.) in case with Richard Moseley,
pit. (July Ct. 1731)

Pg. 127: Daniell Hix appointed surveyor of a road from Burk Branch to the county bridge. (June Ct. 1731)

Pg. 111: Case from Pg. 64 continued. Continued to next ct.. (May Ct. 1731) (NOTEJ A reference to Wm. Willis was
put in the margin - between Pp. 156-161) (I did not copy this—merely noted it.)

COURT RECORD BK. 3 (1731-1735) searched page-by-page.

Pg, 26: Wm, Randolph, Rich'd Randolph, John Randolph, John Fleming, executor's of the estate of Thos. Randolph,
dec'd vs. Marmaduke Hix (deft.) - "Trespass on the Case". Defendant didn't come to ct. He is summoned to the
next ct. and if he fails to appear, the pits, win the case. (Dec. Ct. 1731)

Pg, 37: Major Willis swears that Samuel Butler died intestate. Letters of Administration are issued to Willis -
Anthony Hoggatt gives security with Willis, Ct, appoints Rich'd Wade, Isaac Robinson, Samuel Hix, said Robt.
Cawthorn to appraise the estate. (Feb, Ct, 1731/2)

Pg. 50: Case from Pg. 26 continued. Cont'd to next ct.. (Mar, Ct. 1731/2)

Pg. 59: Thomas Moss vs. Marmaduke Hix, Anne David, Thomas Turpin, John Robinson, and James Taylor, Defts;
didn't come to ct.c Ordered to appear at next ct. or lose the case. Case against Taylor discontinued. (Mar. Ct.
1731/2) (WM. WILLIS entry - between pp. 59-67)

Pg. 67: Major Willis presents the inventory of the estate of Samuel Butler. ([May Ct. 1732)

Pp. 71: 73, 74; Marmaduke Hix on juries. (May Ct, 1732)
75,77

Pg. 74: Randolph vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 50. (May Ct., 1732)

Pg. 96; Randolph vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg, Jk and before - "trespass on the case". Deft, confesses judgement to the
plts. for L4.13.2. Ct, orders him to pay this and ct, costs0 (Aug. Ct. 1732)

Pp. 115-116: Moss ix, etc.. Cont'd from Pg. 59 - "In Chancery", More time granted complainant to consider deft's
answer,

(Sept. Ct. 1732)

Pg. 118: Co. Levy Ct. pays Marmaduke Hix for 1 wolve's head - 200# tobacco.

Pg, 127: Jacob Winfrey appointed surveyor of a road in the room [place] of Marmaduke Hix, (Jan. 16, Ct. 1732)
Pg. 143: Moss vs. Hix, etc. - case cont'd from Pg. 115-116 and before. All defts. answered the charges except Hix.
Attachment is issued against "the body of Marmaduke Hix" to appear at the next ct. to answer the charges. (Mar.

Ct. 1732/3)

Pg. 155: John Twitty vs. Marmaduke Hix - "On Petition". Pit. won 37 shillings and 11 pence and ct, costs and
lawyer's fees. (Mar, Ct. 1732/3)

Pg. 157: Francis Epes vs. Marmaduke Hix - "On Petition Y," Case dismissed. (Mar. Ct. 1732/3)



Pg. 174: Epes vso Hix - cont'd from Pg. 157. Mix made no legal objection so the pit. won 32 shillings and costs and
lawyer's fees. (Apr. Ct. 1732/3)

Pg. 179: Moss vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 143 and before. Pits, given more time. (May Ct. 1732/3)

Pg. 198: Thos. Moss, administrator of John Griffin vs. Hix, etc. - cont'd from Pg. 179 and before. "In Chancery".
Cont'd to next ct. (June Ct. 1732/3)

Pg. 206: Wm. Mayo vs. Marmaduke Hix - doesn't say what about. Hix confesses judgement to Mayo for L4.12.3
with interest at 60 per annum from 13 Apr 1730 Ct. rules for the pit, - pit, stays judgement until the last day of May
next. (Aug. Ct. 1733)

Pg. 221: Middleton Shaw swears that Nicholas Nicholas died intestate. Shaw given Letters of Administration.
Stephen Hughes acts as security for Shaw, Ct. appoints appraisers; Joseph Watkins, Joseph Farrar, Strangeman
Hutchins, Samuel Hix. (Jan. Ct. 1733/4)

Pg. 223: Middleton Shaw present inventory of the above estate. (Feb. Ct, 1733/4)

Pg, 224: Moss vs. Hix, etc. - cont'd from Pg, 206 and before. Case dismissed, complainant not prosecuting. (Feb. Ct.
1733/4)

Pg. 226: Anthony Hoggatt, Joseph Dabbs prove a deed of lease from Samuel Hix to John Col viii, Middleton Shaw,
and Nicholas Nicholas,, (Mar. Ct. 1733/1734)

Pg. 252: Nathaniel Hix exempted from county levies in the future. (May Ct. 1733/1734)
Pg. 272: Marmaduke Hix and wf. Agnes acknowledge a deed to John Twitty, (June Ct. 1733/1734)

[unknown pg] The late Harold Johnson researched the families of Joseph Johnson and his brother, Isaac Johnson. In
his research notes, Harold Johnson had: "1733, June 20. Daniel Johnson; Joseph Johnson(1); John Hicks [m.
Elizabeth will 1748] Goochland Co. Pat 300a. On the North side of James Riv., adj land of Michael Johnson; lines of
Robert and Benjamin Woodson; on the N. side of Mill Cr. and the S. side of E. branch of Jinetoe Cr.and on the N.
side of Mill Cr. Book 15 pg 37."

Pg. 273: Nicholas Cox [Cockes] appointed surveyor of a road in place of Jacob Winfrey and Marmaduke Hix. (June
Ct. 1734)

Pg. 354: Will of Nathaniel Hix presented by the executrix, Rebecca Hix. Proved by the oaths of James Holman and
Charles Jordan (witnesses thereto), (May Ct. 1735) [Nathaniel is Daniel's uncle- see Daniel's will also in 1735]

[Goochland County, Virginia, Will Book 2, Page 89; Written: November 26, 1728; Recorded: May 20, 1735
Will of Nathaniel Hix
In the name of God amen | Nathaniel Hix of Goochland County and St. James Parish being sick & weak of body

but of perfect sense and memory thanks be given to Almighty God for the same and calling into mind that we
must yield unto death whensoever it shall pleas[e] God to call, do constitute and appoint this my land will and
testament. | give and bequeath my Soul unto almighty God my Saveir [sic] and Redeemer to have forgiveness of all
my sins and comitt [sic] my body to the Earth to be buried in such decent and Cristan [sic] manner as my Executors
shall think fit and as for my Estate | will and bequeath as follows:

| give and bequest all my land unto my oldest son Arc[bd?} Hix after his mother’s decease.

| give five shilins [sic] current money to every won [sic] of my children Elce [?}. An. Amos. Sarah. Stephen & Edath

(7]



| give and bequeath unto my well beloved wife Rebeckor [sic] Hix all the remaining parts of my Estate in ginarall
[sic] to her disposal. | conestete [?] and apint [sic] my well beloved wife Rebecker Hix my hole [?] and sole
Executrix of his my last will and testam’t

Witness whereof | have set my hand and seall this 26 day of November Ano dom. 1728.
his Nathaniel Hix [seal] mark
Teste James Holman Charles Jordan his Edward M More [?] mark
At a court held for Goochland County May 20th 1735. This will was proved by the oaths of James Holman &
Charles Jordan two of the witnesses hereto & was admitted to record.]

Pg. 376: Will of Daniel Hix presented by James Holman, the executor. Proved by the oaths of John Williams and
Henry Holman, witnesses thereto. (July Ct. 1735)

[Will of Daniel Hix, Goochland Deed Book #2, Page 111

In the Name of God Amen. | Danie Hix being very sick & weak of body but in perfect mind and memory thanks be
to Almight God. | do apoint this my last will & Testment first | give & bequeath my Soul to God that gave it in sure
& & certain hope of a Glorious Resurection through the merits of Jesus Christ next | give my body to be decently
inter'd at the discretion of my Exect.

Item | leave all my moveable Estate to my well-beloved wife Joan Hix at her discretion and at her disposall during
her widowhood but in case she should marry then to be equally divided between her my well-beloved wife and my
two well beloved daghters Lucy Hix & Winefred Hix.

Item. | leave my two negroes Bobb & Allice to my said well beloved wife to be kept at her discretion during her
widowhood but

in case she my said wife should marry or dye then | give and bequeath my negro girl called Allice & her issue if ever
she has any to my oldest daughter Lucy Hix to her & the heirs of her body lawfully begotten . . . wife and in the
same manner | Give and bequeath my negro man called Bob to my youngest daughter Winefred Hix to her and the
heirs of her body lawfully begotten.

Item. | give to and bequeath to my well-beloved Cousen Archer [Archibald] Hix my whole set of Troopers Arms.
Item. | give and bequeath to my oldest daughter Lucy Hix my plantation whereon | now live and such part of the
land adjoyning to it lying between Tuckahoe & my Spring Branch running up the Spring Branch to the Spring from
thence to the head of the Cottonpatch Branch and so down the sd. Branch to my line which part of my land and
Plantation | do give to my said daughter to her & her heirs forever.

Item. | Give & bequeath to my sd. daughter Lucy Hix one hundred & fifty acres of land on the Deer point (?) Branch
to her and her heirs forever.

Item. | Give & bequeath to my youngest daughter Winefred Hix the remaining part of my land | now live on and all
the appertenances thereunto belonging to her and heirs for ever and in case both should dye without Issue then all
my land to fall to Archer [Archibald] Hix.

Item. | do apoint my well-beloved wife Joan Hix sole Executrix of this my last will & Testament during her life and in
case she my said wife should dye before my sd. daughters should marry or be of lawfull age in such case | do
appoint Capt. James Holman to do and act as Executor of my Estate according to this my last will and Testament
this XXXVI day of Dec. one thousand seven hund. thirty four.

Daniel Hix

Signed & sealed in presence of us J. Williams, Henry Holman, Wilminten H. Harris

At a Court held for Goochland County July 15, 1735. This will was proved by the Oaths of John Williams & Henry
Holman and

was thereupon admitted to record.  Test. H. Wood ]

Pg. 383: Aggy Womack, Priscilla Womack, Archer Hix, and Amos Hix pd. as wits, for Tabitha Evans (pit.) in her case
of trespass against James Marye. John Williams pd. as wit. for Marye. (Sept. Ct. 1735)

COURT ORDER BK. 4 (1736-1741) searched page-by-page

Pg. 86: Wm. Mayo vs. Marmaduke Hix - "On Scire Facias", Deft, didn't come. Summoned to next ct . July Ct. 1736)



Pg. 105: Mayo vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg, 86 - deft, didn't come so judgement of L4.12.3 renewed for the plt . (Aug.
Ct. 1736)

Pg. 118: Henry Gary vs. Marmaduke Hix - "Trespass on the Case". Deft, didn't come to ct. Judgement awarded the
plt. unless deft, comes to next ct., (Aug. Ct. 1736).

Pg. 155: Gary vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 118. Deft, didn't come. Case cont'd to next ct . (May Ct. 1737)
Pg. 178: Jacob Michaux vsO Marmaduke Hix - "On Petition". Case cont'd. (May Ct. 1737)
Pg. 180: "Ordered that David Hix be excempt from the payment of Levy's." (June Ct. 1737)

Pg. 191: Gary vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 155 and before. Jury found for the plt. and awarded him L16.9.6 and costs.
(July Ct. 1737)

Pg. 203: Michaux vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg, 178. Cont'd for sheriff's return. (July Ct. 1737)

Pg. 205: Marmaduke Hix vs. John White - "On Petition". Case dismissed. Neither party came to ct. (July Ct, 1737)
Pg, 206: Nicholas Davies vs. Marmaduke Hix - "In Debt", Case dismissed, no prosecution. (July Ct, 1737)

Pg, 228: Michaux vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg, 203 and before. Dismissed, No prosecution. (Aug, Ct0 1737)

Pg. 257: Church Wardens of St. James Parish vs. Marmaduke Hix - "Complaint". Cont'd to next ct. (Febo Ct.
1737/8)

Pg. 260: Marmaduke Hix acknowledges a deed to Robt. Smith, Hix's wife Agnes relinquishes her dower rts to the
land, (Mar, Ct, 1737/8) Marmaduke Hix acknowledges deed to John Coupland. Wife not examined. (Mar. Ct,
1737/8)

Pg. 285: Wm. David vs. Marmaduke Hix - "Case of Trespass", Case dismissed. No prosecution. (Mar. Ct. 1737/8)

Pg» 296: James Lee, orphan, bound to Marmaduke Hix, a cooper, (May Ct. 1738)

Pg. 366: County Levy Ct, pays out amts. to various persons, among whom was; Jane(?) Hix - for 1 old and 6 young
wolves - 500# tobacco.

Pg. 477: John Coupland vs, Marmaduke Hix - "In Chancery", New subpoena issued. Case cont'd to next ct. (May Ct.
1?40)

Pg. 506: Coupland vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 477. Time granted to Deft, to answer. (July Ct. 1740)

Pg. 509: Will of Henry Holman proved by the oaths of John Williams and Rebecca Hix [widow of Nathaniel],
witnesses thereto. (Aug. Ct. 1840) Administrators are Mourning Holman and James Holman,

Betw. Pp. 515-523: Luke Wiles acknowledges a deed.
Betw. Pp. 523-538: Robt, Willis, acknowledges a deed.

Pg. 544: Coupland vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 506 and before. Deft, didn't come to ct.. Attachment issued for him to
appear at next ct. (June Ct. 1741)

Pg. 575: Above case cont'd. Deft, still didn't come. Fined 1 shilling. (July Ct. 1741)

COURT RECORD BK. 5 (1741-1744)

10



Pg. 39: Coupland vs Hix - cont'd from Bk. 4, Pg. 544 and before. Deft, still didn't come. Attachment of contempt of
court returnable to the next ct.. (May Ct. 1742)

Pg. 62: Coupland vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 39 and before. Cont'd to next ct. (June Ct. 1742)

Pg. 91: Coupland vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 62 and before - "In Chancery". Deft, being seized of 200 acres in this
county and did on 21 Feb 1737 mortgage sd. land to the plt, as security for a debt of L30. If deft. pays this amt. by 1
May 1739, mortgage to be void. Ct. awards this land to the pit. because the deft, didn't pay. (July Ct. 1742)

Pg. 134: Robt. Willis acknowledges a deed to John Price. His wf, (Willis) Mary, relinquishes her dower rts, in the
land. (Oct, Ct, 1742) Robt. Willis acknowledges a deed to Robt. Willis, Jr. and Robt's wf. Mary, relinquishes her
dower rts. in the land. (Oct. Ct. 1742)

Pg. 149: Silvanus Maxey vs. estate of Thomas Willis - "On Attachment". Case dismissed - no appearance. (Oct. Cto
1742)

Pg. 154: Persons pd. for wolves heads. Includes John Golding for 1 head -pd. 140# tobacco. (Co. Levy Ct. - Oct.
1742)

Pg. 181: Robt. Willis, Jr. appointed surveyor of a road. (Dec. Ct. 1742)
Pg. 249: Marmaduke Hix and three others appointed by the ct. to appraise the estate of John Arms. (June Ct. 1743)

Pg. 349: Marmaduke Hix vsO John Robertson - "Case of Trespass". Wm. Megginson acts as special bail for the deft.
A special imparlance is granted the deft.o Case cont'd. (Mar Ct. 1743/4)

Pg. 402: Hix vs. Robinson - cont'd from Pg. 349. Dismissed agreed. (May Ct. 1744)

Pg. 491: Tene [Zeney (Eliz) Henry's wife] Hix acknowledges a deed to Robert Willis, Jr.. (Sept. Ct, 1744)
COURT RECORD Bk. 6 (1744-1749)

Pg. 75: David Hix [Samuel's son] appointed to a road crew. (June Ct. 1745)

Pg. 90: John Hix paid as a witness for Thos. Clark, pit. in a trespass case. (July Ct. 1745)

Pg. 155: Chas. Turnbull vs. David Hix - "Case of Trespass". DeftO not to be found. Attachment issued for L10 against
any of his property here. (Mar. Ct, 1755/6)

Pg. 189 Turnbull vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 155. Case dismissed. (May Ct. 1746)

Pg. 235 John Hix summoned to the next ct. to answer the plea of Mary Butts [Batte?], (doesn't say what about) -
(Nov. Ct. 1746)

Pg. 266 The action of trespass between Evan Shoemaker and Golder Hix [Goulder is Samuel's son], deft, is
dismissed being agreed." (Mar. Ct. 1747) (NOTE: Did | miss this before?)

Pg. 352 John Witt comes to ct. and acknowledges a deed from him to Henry Whitloe, No wf. was examined. (July
Ct. 1747)

Pg. 358 David Willis comes into ct, and acknowledges a deed from him to Geo. Thompson, David's Wf. Eleanor
relinquishes her dower rts. (Aug. Ct. 1747)

Pg. 403 James Barnes acknowledges a deed from him to Marmaduke Hix. No wf. for Barnes. (Mar. Ct. 1747/8)
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Pg. 419 Marmaduke Hix acknowledges a deed to his daughter (not named), (May Ct. 1748)

Pg. 422: Will of John Hix presented by Thos. Jolly Hix, his executor. Proved by the oaths of Isaac Johnson and John
Turner, witnesses thereto. Ct. appoints appraisers Isaac Johnson, James Johnson, Thos. Wadlow, Wm. Burton.
(May Ct. 1748)

[Goochland County, Virginia, Will Book 5, Page 407; Written: December 9, 1747; Recorded: May 17, 1748
Will of John Hix

In the name of God amen | John Hix of ye County of Goochland calling to mind that all flesh must die and at
present being much afflicted with calamities tho of perfect sense and memory do make and ordain this my last will
and testament that is to say imprimus | give and bequeath unto my wife Elizabeth my land & all my real and
personal estate that | am possess with
during her life and after here my said wife’s decease | give and bequeath unto my son David Hix my land that | am
now possessed with to him and his heirs forever. Item. | ordain and desire that after my said wife’s decease then
the remainder of the estate be divided equally between all my children and my said wife’s children and grand son
James Johnson Hix each an equal part also ordaining that if my said wife should die when the children being yet
small that then the children and also the estate to be and remain in the possession of my executor until the
children be raised able to maintain themselves. Item. | appoint my son Thomas Jolly Hix executor to this my last
will and testament. In testimony whereof | set my hand and seal this 9th day of December anno domini one
thousand seven hundred and forty seven. Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of us.
Isaac Johnson James Turner Henry Turner John Hix [seal] ]

Pg. 429: In the action of Trespass on the case between Thomas Farrar, plt, and Sam'l Hix and his wife Defts. Special
imparlance is granted the Defts- (wife's name not given) (May Ct. 1748)

Pg. 439: On the petition of Gideon Hix, son of Elizabeth Hix, it is ordered that he be exempted from paying County
Levies." (June Ct. 1748)

Pg. 445: Inventory of the estate of John Hix presented and ordered recorded. (July Ct. 1748) (NOTE: this will be
found in the deed books.)

Pg. 470: Farrar vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 429 - "Case of Trespass", "the Defendants Demurs Generally to the Plt's
proceedings and the PIt. joyns the Demurrer. " (July Ct. 1748)

Pg. 480: Strangman Hutchens and wf. Elizabeth come to ct. and acknowledge a deed from them to Wm. Whitloe.
(Aug. Ct. 1748)

Farrar vs. Sam'l Hix and wf. Diana - cont'd from Pg. 470 and before. James Meredith is attorney for the plt. Wm.
Battersley is attorney for the defts. Premises being seen by the ct. Ct. feels that the "demurrer of the Defts. to the
Pits." declaration is good and sufficient in law". Defts. to recover against the plt. costs and lawyer's fee. (Aug. Ct.
1749)

Pg. 567-568: Agnes Willis, swears that Robt. Willis, carpenter, dec'd, died intestate. Letters of Administration
awarded her. Wm. Harding acts as her security, Ct. appoints appraisers Giles Letcher, Rene Laforce, William Ford,
and John Bibb. (Mar. Ct. 1749/50)

Pg. 568: Eleoner Willis swears that David Willis died intestate. She is awarded LOA with Wm, Harding and Jacob
Robertson as her securities. Ct, appoints appraisers: Wm. Farrar, Ralf Graves, Geo, Thompson, Chas. Johnson,
(Mar. Cto 1749/50)

COURT RECORD BOOK 7 (1750-1751)

Pg. 24: Inventory of the estate of David Willis is ordered recorded. (Aug. Ct. 1750)

Pg, 124: Wm. Witt comes to ct, and acknowledges a deed from him to Henry Whitler [Whitlow]. No wf, examined.
(May Ct, 1752)
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Pg. Wm. Whitlow acknowledges a deed from him to John Whitlow, No wf. examined. (May Ct. 1752)

Pg. fenn Pg. 154 Amos Hix acknowledges a deed from him to John Woodward. Amos' wife, Mary, relinquishes her
dower rts., (Aug. Ct. 1752)

Pg. 222: Wm, Harding, security for Agnes Willis, administratrix in the estate of Robt. Willis, comes into ct. and asks
for new securities, (June Ct. 1753)

Pg. 235: Same as above. Agnes md. Wm. Allen and they are not inhabitants now. (June Ct. 1753)

Pg. 258: John Carlyle vs. Elizabeth Hix - "Action of Case". Deft, not found in Sheriff's bailiwick on 9 Oct 1753. Alias
Capias issued for the deft. - to appear at next ct. (Nov. Ct. 1753)

Pp. 263-264: Elizabeth Hix vs. Claborn Rice - "Case of Trespass". Rice not found in this bailiwick. His estate here is
attached for L20 damages to the plt. (Jan. Ct. 1754)

Pg. 417: Hix vs. Rice - cont'd from pg. 263. Sheriff is ordered to find the property of Rice and list it for the next ct.,
(May Ct. 1754)

Pg. 422: Hix vs. Rice - cont'd from Pg. 417 and before. Pit. won. (May Ct. 1754-) (Ct. held another day from previous
one)

Pg. 435: Carlyle vs, Hix - cont'd from Pg. 258. Carlyle proved an account owed by the deft, and was granted this
amt. (can't read it). (July Ct. 1754)

Pg. 500: John Pleasants & son vs, Samuel Hix - "In Case" - dismissed, not being further prosecuted, (Feb. Ct. 1755)

Pg. 515: Hix vs. Clayborn Rice - cont'd from Pg. 422, Jury trial. Plt. awarded damages. John Hodges pd. 75# tobacco
as a wits. for Elizabeth Hix in this case. (Mar. Ct. 1755) (NOTE: Evidently this case was not settled before )

Pg. 516: John Carlyle vs. Elizabeth Hix - "In Case". PIt. won L.16,4 and ct. costs. (Mar. Ct. 1755)

Pg. 552: Chas. Jordan, Rich'd Crouch and Stephen Hix prove (as witnesses thereto) a deed from James Holman to
Wm. Woodward, (June Ct, 1755)

Pg. 633: Will of John Barnet presented by the executors: Catharine Barnet and Thos. Barnet. Robt. Burton and Wm.
Farrar act as securities for them. Proved by the witnesses thereto: Samuel Hix, Henry Whitler [Whitlow]. (Sept. Ct.
1756)

Diana Hicks (Samuel's daughter) m. Nathan Whitlock on Sep. 7, 1756 ["The Douglas Register", compiled by Wm.
Douglas, ©1928]

Capt. Hicks in this parish & Sylvanus Stokes in Cumberland m. on Sep. 21, 1755 ["The Douglas Register", compiled
by Wm. Douglas, ©1928]
Pg. 638: John Henry acknowledges a deed (as grantor) to John Hicks. John Darracott(?), Wm. Dabney, John Boswell,
Gent. - all of Hanover Co. appointed by the ct. to examine Sarah Henry in the above deed and see if she wants to
relinquish her dower rts. in the property. Sarah is the wife of John Henry (above). (Nov. Ct. 1756)
COURT RECORD BK. 8 (1757-1761)

Pg. 155: Rich'd Johnson and John Boswell, Gent. vs. Nathan Whitlow - "In Debt". Deft, to pay plts. L16.15.6 and
costs over a period of time plus % interest until May 1768. (July Ct. 1758)

Pg. 156: Same pits, as previous case vs. Henry Hix - "On Petition". Ct. awarded L3.1.3 to the plts. (July Ct. 1758)
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Pg. 158t Wm. Miller, Gent., Wm. Woodall, and John Woodall prove (as witnesses) a deed from David Hix to Daniel
Johnson. (Aug. Ct. 1758)

Pg. 166: John Hix acknowledges a deed from him to Harrison Harris. No wife. (Sept. Ct. 1758)
Pg. 246: Elizabeth Hix pd. for caring for Richard Wilborn, dec'd. (July Ct. 1759)

Pg. 270: Wm. Miller and Miller Doggatt prove (as witnesses) a deed from Elizabeth Hix and Wme Hix to Daniel Hix.
(Bee. Ct. 1759)

Pg. 287-288: John Leprade further proves a deed from Elizabeth Hix and Wm. Hix to Daniel Johnson. (Apr. Ct. 1760)
(NOTE* Did I miss the other pt. of this?)

Pg. 341: Wm. Battersby, assignee of Wm. Harding vs. Nathan Whitlow - "Case of Debt". Deft, didn't come to ct..
Pit. wins if Whitlow doesn't come to next ct. to plead his case. John Whitlow gave "common bail" for the deft.

(Aug. Ct. 1760)

Pg. 368: Battersby vs. Whitlow - cont'd from Pg. 341. Wm. Stamps "undertakes" (goes bail) for the deft. John
Whitlow still has bail. Deft, asks to plea at the next ct. (Sept. Ct. 1760)

Pg. 404: Wm. Whitler acknowledges a deed from him to John Pleasants and son. (Apr. Ct. 1761)
Pg. 416: Stephen Hix - deft, in debt case which was dismissed. (July Ct. 1761)

Pg. 427: Battersby vs. Whitlow - cont'd from Pg. 368 and before. Deft, defends the force and injury and says he
owes nothing, asks for a trial. Case cont'd. (July Ct. 1761)

COURT RECORD BK. 9 (1761-1765)

Pg. 19: Battersby vs. Whitlow - cont'd from Bk. 8, Pg. 427 and before. Trial scheduled for the next ct.. (Aug. Ct.
1761)

Pg. 22: Laforce and Wm. Whitler prove a deed (as wits.) from John Cox, Jr. to John Crow. (Sept. Ct. 1761)

Pg. 50: John Whitlow acknowledges a deed from himself to John Bibb. John's wf., Catharine, relinquished her
dower rt. in the property. (May Ct. 1762)

Pg. 57: John Crow acknowledges a deed from himself to Wm. Whitler. No wf. examined separately. (Aug. Ct. 1762)
(NOTE: John Crow md. Jean Whitlow in 1758 in Goochland Co.)

Pp. 86-87: Meshack Hicks vs. John Payne, minor - "In Case". Can't read the rest? (Aug. Ct. 1762)(NOTE: "minor"
here means, the younger person of that name.)

Pg. 88: Arch'd Hix and wf. Elizabeth acknowledge a deed from themselves to John Woodward. (Aug. Ct. 1762)

Pg. 101: Battersby vs, Nathan Whitlow - debt case cont'd from Bk. 9, Pg. 19 and before. Jury ruled that the deft,
owed nothing and he was awarded ct. costs. (Sept. Ct, 1762)

Fg. 162: Meshack Hix vs. John Payne - cont'd from Pg. 86. "In Case". Can't read the rest. The bottom of the page of
microfilm faded out. (Apr. Ct. 1763)

Pg. 163: Alexander McCaul vs. Henry Hix - "Trespass on the Case". Deft, asks for a trial. Case cont'd. (Apr. Ct. 1763)

Pg. 167: Henry Hix on a jury. (Apr. Ct. 1763)
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Pg. 212: James Donald, Sr. and James Donald, Jr. & Company vs. Nathan Whitlow - "In Debt". Dismissed by pits'
note to their attorney. (Aug. Ct. 1763)

Agnes Hicks (daughter of Samuel Hicks) m. Jacob Woodhall on 5 Oct 1763 (# 9) "The Douglas Register", compiled
by Wm. Douglas, ©1928

Pg. 246: John Page, Joseph Hodges give bail for Sherod Harris and Wm. Harris, defts. in a debt case. Alexander
Baine is the plt. Defts. didn't come and are ordered to appear at the next ct. or lose the case, (Dec. Ct. 1763)

Pg. 261: Wm. Whitlow acknowledges a deed from him to John Whitlow and his wf. Catharine, No wf. for Wm.
(Feb Ct. 1764)

Pg. 262: Wm. Whitlock acknowledges, a deed from him to Thos. Whitlock. No wf, (NOTE: I copied this because of
the similarity with Whitlow, but | do not believe this to be Whitlow.)

Pg. 268: Baine vs. Sherod & Wm. Harris - cont'd from Pg. 246. Case dismissed. (Feb. Ct. 1764)
Pg. 272. Meshack Hicks vs. John Payne, minor - cont'd from Pg. 860 Deft, asks for a jury trial. (Feb. Ct. 1764)
Pg. 273: McCaul vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 163. Case cont'd. (Feb, Ct. 1764)

Pg. 291: John Woodram vs. Samuel Golder [Goulder, apparently Goulder Hix namesake]- "On Petition". Deft, lost.
Ct. orders him to pay 26 shillings and ct. costs. (Apr. Ct. 1764)

Pg. 355: McCaul vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg0 273 and beforec Case cont'd, (May Ct. 1764)

Pg. 372: Hicks vs. Payne - cont'd from Pg. 272 and before. Pit, won the case, (June Ct, 1764)

Pg. [ ] John Hicks and Thos, Adams pd, as witnesses for Meshack Hicks in the above case. (same ct.)
Pg. 4-31: McCaul vs. Henry Hix - cont'd from Pg. 355 and beforec Pit. won. (Sept. Ct. 1755)

COURT RECORD BK. 10 (1765-1766)

Pg. 1: Thos. Starke and Sherod Harris prove (as witnesses) from Wm, Page to
John Page. (June, Ct. 1765)

Pg. Geo. Kippen & Co. vs. Sherwood Harris - "Trespass on the Case". Case dismissed. (Oct. Ct. 1765)

Pg. 192: John Whitlow acknowledges a deed from him to John Barnett. John Bibb, Jr. and Richard Wade prove for
Whitlow's wf. Catharine. (Aug. Ct. 1766)

Cary Hicks m. Beverly Clark on Nov. 17, 1766 ["The Douglas Register", compiled by Wm. Douglas, ©1928]
Pg. 222: James George acknowledges a deed from him to Wm. Hicks. (Nov. Ct. 1766)
COURT RECORD BK. 11 (1767-1771)
Pg. 7: James George vs. Sherwood Harris - "Trespass on the Case". John Page, Sr. gave bail for Harris. Case cont'd.
(Jan. Ct. 1767)

Pg. 22 Stoakes McCaul acts as security for Henry Whitlow who is deft, in a debt case. (May Ct. 1767)

Pg. 119 Ellender Willis granted LOA in the estate of her husband Robert Willis who died intestate. Rene Laf orce
and Geo. Bartlett act as her securities. (Sept. Ct. 1767)
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Pg. 140 John Payne vs. Gideon Hix - "In Debt". Cont'd to next ct. (Dec Ct. 1767)

Pg. 164: Henry Hix pd. as a witness for Alexander Fowler, deft, in a debt case. Henry pd. for coming from
Cumberland Co. (30 miles) and from Orange Co., Carolina (no mileage given). (Mar. Ct. 1768)

Pg. 169: Thomas Pleasants vs. Nathan Whitlow - "On Attachment". Case cont'd.

Pg. 177 Will of Bis Whitlow proved by the oaths of the witnesses thereto— John Crow and John Hughs. Executor is
Henry Whitlow. Whitlow is also spelled Whitlock in part of this entry. [Apr. Ct. 1768)

Pg. 178: Wm. Whitlock and Molly his wife vs. Stoakes McCaul, executor of Wm. Rowntree, dec'd - "In Chancery".
Plt. given until next ct. to plea. (Apr. Ct. 1768)

Pg. 178: Wm. Whitlock vs. Stoakes McCaul - "In Case. Henry Whitlow acts as security for the deft.. (Apr. Ct. 1768)
Betw. Pg, 180-182: Henry Whitlow is deft, in a debt case. (Apr. Ct. 1768) (didn't copy rest of this)

Pg. 187: Inventory of the estate of Wm. Whitlow returned to ct. and ordered recorded. (May Ct. 1768)

Pg. 208: John Payne, vs, Gideon Hix - cont'd from Pg. 140. Returnable to the next ct. (May Ct. 1768)

Pp. 219-220: Case from Pg. 178: Whitlock & Molly, wf. vs. McCaul, exor. of Wm. Rowntree. Case dropped by Pit..

(June Ct. 1768)

Pg. 222: Case cont'd from Pg. 169. Deft, didn't come to ct.. Henry Whitlow, the garnishee, declares he has a mare
and gun belonging to the deft, so the ct. awarded these and a judgement in the case to the plt. (June Ct. 1768)

Pg. 225: Whitlock vs, McCaul - cont'd from Pg, 178 - "In Case". Cont'd to next ct.. (June Ct. 1768)

Betw. Pg. 225-233: Noted a case in which Henry Whitlow was the deft. Prob. a continuance of that on either 219
or 220. (June Ct. 1768)

Pg. 233: Wm. Whitlock vs. WmG Clarkson & Turner Richardson - "On Petition". Cont'd to next ct.. (July Ct. 1768)
Betw. Pp. 233-242: Noted the name Gideon Hix appeared.

Pg. 243: Wm. Whitlock's negro girl Sarah is adjudged by the ct. to be 12 yrs. old. (Augo Ct. 1768)
Pg, 247: Case on Pg. 233 cont'd. Deft, didn't appear at ct, so plt. won conditional judgement. (Aug. Ct. 1768)

Betw. Pp. 250-261: Noted name of Gideon Hix appeared.

Pg. 282: Wm, Whitlock vs. Thos, Whitlock - "On Attachment"e Case dismissed. (Feb. Ct. 1769) Another suit, same
parties as above - also dismissed by sheriff's return. This was "Trespass on the Case", (same ct.)

Pg. 301: Case on Pg. 225 cont'd. Carried to next ct.. (Mar. Ct. 1769)
Betw. Pg. 302-308: Noted name of Mildred Willis appeared,,

Pg. 324: John Payne vs, Gideon Hix - "Case of Debt". Deft, didn't come to ct., John Webber and Cornelius Harris had
acted as securities for the deft. Plt. wins a conditional judgement. (June Ct. 1769)

Pg. 343: Payne vs. Hix - cont'd from Pg. 324. The securities for Hix bring him to ct. and ask to be released from their
security, Hix is committed to the sheriff "until he be discharged by due course of law". (July Ct. 1769)

Pg. 344: Henry Whitlow acknowledges a deed from him to his son Henry Whitlow. No wf, for Henry, Sr. (July Ct.
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1769)

Pgo 324: Gideon Hix is deft, in a debt case - didn't copy rest. This case also is cont'd on Pg. 343. (Pg. 324 ct. was
held June, 1769)

COURT RECORD BK 12 (1771-1778)
Betwo Pg. 6-13: Noted a reference to Henry Whitlow. (May Ct, 1771)
Pg. 15: John Whitlock vs. Eleazer Williams - "On Petition", (didn't copy rest) (June Ct. 1771)

Pg. 34: Crenshaw & Anderson, Merchants & Partners vs0 Jesse Hix - "On Petition". Deft. confesses judgement ot
the plts. Plts, awarded 34 shillings, 4 pence to be discharged for payment of 26 shillings, 8 pence and interest from
27 Nov 1770. (July Ct. 1771)

Pg. 38: Geo. Robertson & Jesse Hix vs. Obadiah Smith - "Warrant & Recognizance". Smith ordered to post bond of
L2 with two securities for good behavior. He didn't do it, so was committed to the custody of the sheriff. Net clear
what this case was abouto (Aug. Ct, 1771)

Betw. Pp. 38-45: Noted the name of Henry Whitlow, Jr. as deft, in a case. (Aug. Ct. 1771)

Pg. 62: Jesse Hix vs. Obadiah Smith - "Trespass, assault and Battery", Cont'd to the next ct. (Aug, Ct. 1771)

Pp. 108-109: Pleasant Willis pd. by the ct. for being on 6 patrols - 120# tobacco. (Nov. Ct. 1771)
Pg. 1129 Henry Whitlow on a jury. (Apr. C.t,, 1772)

Pg. 135: Hix vs. Smith - cont'd from Pg. 62. Case dismissed. (Apr. Ct. 1772)

Pp. 187, 191: Jesse Hix on a jury. (May Ct. 1772)

Pg. 220: Will of John Hicks presented by the executors: Meshack and John Hicks. Proved by the oaths of the wits,
thereto: Booker Parrish, Harrison Harris. Harrison Harris acted as security for the executors. Ct. appoints
appraisers: Wm. Lewis, Geo. Payne, Jr., Wm. Robards, Booker Parrish (or any three of them). (Aug. Ct. 1772)

[Will of John Hicks: In the name of God, Amen, | John Hicks of the County of Goochland being sick and weak but
of sound memory Thanks be given to Almighty God for the same, but calling to mind the uncertainty of this
transitory life and knowing that it is appointed for all men to die, do Constitute make and ordain this to be my last
Will and Testement Revoking all others by me formerly made Either by word or Writing& First | commit my Soul
into the hands of Almighty God, hoping that through the Merits of Jesus Christ | shall have a full pardon of all my
Sins and my body to the Earth to be buried at the Discretion of my Exrs hereafter named and as touching such
worldly Estate as the Lord has been pleased to favor me with, | give & Bequeath the same in the Manner following:
That is to wit
Item. | give and Bequeath to my son Meshack Hicks One hundred Acres of land joining the County Line and
Upshers line to him and his heirs forever.

I lend to my Beloved Wife Mary Hicks all the rest of my estate During her Natural life.

| give and Bequeath to my three sons, David, William, and Meshack Hicks the rest of my Land and containng three
hundred and ---- acres to be equally Divided Between when my son Moses comes of Lawfull Age and my said son
Moses Hicks to have First Choice, which | give to them and their heirs for ever, and if Either of them should depart
the Life before of Age, His part to be Divided between the Survivors and their Heirs, For ever.

| give and Bequeath to my Son Shadrach Hicks one Negro--named John, to him and his heirs for Ever.

| give and Bequeath to my son John Hicks one Negro girl Bet to him and his heirs forever, But if the said Bet should
have any child or children before the Death of my said wife Mary Hicks such Increase | give to be Equally Divided
between my three sons David, William, Moses and their heirs for Ever.

| give and Bequeath to my Son Harris Hicks one Negro girl, Sarah to him and his heirs for Ever, but if she the said
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Sarah should have any Child or Children, before the Death of my said Wife Mary Hicks, such Increase | give to be
Equally Divided Between my three sons, David, William & Moses Hicks and their heirs for Ever.

I will that my Negro Woman Nan, likewise my stocks of Cattle, Hogs, Horses, Sheep, Household goods and other
Estate after my said Wifes Decease, be Equally Divided Between my Children Susannah Adams, Shadrck Hicks,
Meshack Hicks, Carry (Cochran?), Mary Hicks, Harris Hicks, Davis Hicks and Moses Hicks.To them and their for Ever
and if any of my aforesaid Children should depart his Life Leaving no Lawfull issue, his or her part so departing to
be Divided Between the Survivors and their heirs for Ever, but as to the Estate that any of my Children has had is to
be all counted for as my Estate and Divided as aforesaid.

I Will who ever has the Care of my Son Shadrck, at his Death shall have the Negro Boy John before given.

| further Will if my Negro Woman Nan should have any Child Children before the Death of my Wife Mary Hicks,
said Increase | give to be Equally divided Between my three Sons, David, William and Moses Hicks & their heirs for
Ever.

| Leave unto Robert Sharp & to his heirs for Ever my Land in Hanover County Containing Eighty seven Acres joining
the Lines of John Cochran, David Anderson, James Anthony and the said sharp, He having paid me for the same. |
Leave my Wife Mary Hicks Exectrix and my Sons Meshack and John Hicks Executors of the my Last Will &
Testament In Witness whereof | have hereunto set my hand and seal this fifth day of May 1772.

Sealed and Published in presence of Booker Parrish
Randol Harnsh John H Hicks Se  his mark
Harrison H Harris his mark

At a Court held for Goochland County Aug. the 17th 1772 Booker Parrish and Harrison Harris, proved the Writing
to be the last Will and Testament of John Hicks decd. wch was thereupon admitted to Record. Teste. Val Wood CC
Cur]

Pg. 229: Martin Key vs. David Hicks - "Case of Trespass". Wm. Harrison acts as bail for the deft, in this case. Case
cont'd. (Aug. Ct. 1772) Another case, same parties (as above). No bail given in this case, (same ct.)

Pg. 243: "Tamer a negro girl belonging to Samuel Hicks is judged to (be) ten years of age, wch on the motion of the
sd0 Samuel is admitted to record." (Sept. Ct. 1772)

David Hicks (John's son?) m. Sarah Lee on 5 Oct 1772 ["The Douglas Register", compiled by Wm. Douglas, ©1928]
Pg. 354 John Whitlock gives bail for Wright Mourland, deft, in a case of debt. (Aug. Ct. 1773)

Pg. 375 Inventory of the estate of John Hicks presented and ordered records. This would be in the deed books.
(Nov. Ct. £773)

Pg. 378 Chas. Lewis, vs. Wm. Pledge, Jr, and Wm, Pledge - "Case of Debt", David Hix gives bail for the defts. (Nov,
Ct, 1773)

Pg. 398 Martha Wadlow, Samuel Hix and wf. Elizabeth, Michael Turpin and wf. Edith, Peter Walker and wf. Sarah,
Peyton Smith and wf. Judith vs. John Laprade, exor. of Thos. Wadlow, dec'd "In Chancery"

Ct. orders Wm. Miller, Thos. Underwood, John Woodson, Stephen Sampson (or any three of them) to allot Martha
Wadlow her 1/3rd pt. of her dec'd husband, Thos. Wadlow's, estate and divide the rest between Elizabeth, Judith,
Edith, and Sarah and the deft. John Laprade all heirs of Thos. Wadlow. (Nov. Ct, 1773)

Pg. 390: Martin Key vs. David Hicks - cont'd from Pg. 229, Deft, asks for a trial. Plt, ordered to produce his books of
accts, at the trial, (May Ct, 1774)

Pg. 398: Same parties - same kind of case - to trial at next ct.. (same ct.)

Pg. 413: Case cont'd from Pg. 390 and before. Nath'l Massie and Ambrose Stodghill give bail for the deft., David
Hicks. (May Ct. 1774)

Pg. 425: Henry Harris and Stephen Sampson vs. Martha Wadlow, wife and relict of Thos. Wadlow, dec'd, Elizabeth,
Edith, Judith, Susanna, daus. of sd. Wadlow, dec'd and John Laprade, executor "In Chancery" Case cont'd to next
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ct.. (May Ct, 1774) (NOTE: See also case on Pg. 398)

Pg. 429: David Hix [son of Samuel Jr.] vs. Wm. Harrison, Gent. - "Trespass, Assault, & Battery". PIt. won. Jury to
determine damages at the next ct.. (May Ct. 1774)

Pg, 449: John Whitlock died intestate. Ann Whitlock is granted LOA with Henry Layne and Meseaux [Meshack]
Hicks as her securities. Appraisers appointed by the ct.: Josiah Leak, John Humber, Wright Mourland, Isham
Richardson (or any three of them). (Oct. Ct. 1774)

Pg. 460: John Whitlock's inventory presented and ordered recorded. (May Ct. 1775)

Pg. 463: Joseph Harris - executor of the estate of Elizabeth Howard who had property in Amherst Co, also. (Aug. Ct.
1775)

Pg. 483: Wm. Dawson acknowledgesl as grantor, a deed to Meshack Hix. No wf. for Dawson. (Sept. Ct. 1776)
Pg. 487: Henry Whitlow on a jury. (Nov. Ct. 1776)

Pg. 504: Mesuax [Meshack] Hicks one of the appraisers appointed by the ct. to appraise the estate of John
Bradshaw (wf. Sarah), Bradshaw's orphans are named and Robt, Coleman is appointed their guardian, (Sept. Ct.
1777)

Pg. 514: Dabney Wade acknowledges his deed to Pleasant Willis. (Feb, Ct. 1778)

COURT ORDER BOOK 13 (1778-1779)

Pg. 6: Wm. Hicks made a road hand. (May Ct. 1778)

Pg. 51: Key vs. David Hicks - cont'd from Bk. 12, Pg, 413 and before. Cont'd to next ct. Another case, same parties
as above, same type of case. Cont'd to next ct. (Both cases in July Ct. 1778)

Pjg. 61: Hix vs. Harrison - cont'd from Bk, 12, Pg, 429, Deft, asks for a jury trial. Case cont'd. (July Ct. 1778)

Pg. 105: Above case cont'do Ct. orders it dismissed. Pit. to recover costs and lawyer's fee from the deft. (Sept. Ct.
1778)

Wm. Massie is pd. as wits, for Hix. in above case.

Pgo 130: Key vs. Hicks - cont'd from Pg. 51 and before. Two cases the same charge. Cases cont'd. (Nov. Ct. 1778)

Pgo 170: Above cases cont'd to next ct.. (Apr. Ct, 1779)

Pg. 175: John Key pd, as a wits, for Martin Key in the above case and for coming and returning from Fluvanna Co.
(22 miles twice) and Albemarle Co. (55 miles twice). (May Ct, 1779)

Pg. 196: Above case cont'd to next ct. (June Ct. 1779)

Pg. 217: Key vs. Hicks - case cont'd from Pg. 196 and before. This is a case of nonperformance of some kind. Pit.
won L49.8 and costs. John Key pd. as a wit. for Key and coming from Albemarle Co. to testify. (Aug. Ct. 1779)
Another case - same parties as above and same charge. Jury found the deft, guilty and awarded the pit, Lr5*8 and
costs, (same ct.)

Pg. 226: Gideon Hicks states he was a soldier in the 2nd Va. Regt. in the late war between Great Britain, France,

and the Indians and he has never dispossed of any lands he had a right to as a soldier. This was recorded by the ct.
—why, I do not know! (Septo Ct. 1779)
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Pg. Robt. Coleman acknowledges a deed from him to Wm. Hicks. (Oct. Ct. 1779) Wm. Hicks acknowledges a deed
from him to Robt. Coleman, (same ct.)

COURT RECORD BK. 14 (1779-1783) - probably didn't get all references.

Pg. 8: Mesuaux [Meshack] Hicks swore that he served in the late war between Gr. Britain, France and the Indians
and never claimed any lands he had a right to for his services. This was just recorded. Possibly this was to obtain
bounty lands. (Feb. Ct. 1780)

Pp. 33-34: Edward Willis and wf. Susanna acknowledge a deed from them to Wm. Willis. (May Ct. 1780)

Edward Willis is paid as a wit. for Luke Webster, pit. in a case against Gideon Cawthon, deft.. (May Ct. 1780)

Pg. 117: John Hix on several juries. (June Ct. 1782)

Pg. 118: Betw. Pp. 237-253 Noted a reference to Wm. Hicks,, (Aug, Ct. 1783)

COURT RECORD BOOK 15 (1784-1787)

Pg. 2: Wm. Hix comes to ct. and swears that David Hicks died intestate. LOA granted to Wm. Hix with Nathaniel
Harris acting as his security. Ct. appoints appraisers: Moses Parrish, John Williams, James Howard. (Feb. Ct. 1784)

Pg. 4: Deed of trust from Pleasant Willis to Stokely Toles is acknowledges by the grantor. No wf. for Willis. (Mar. Ct.
1784)
Deed from Wm. Willis and wife (not named) to John Johnson acknowledged by the grantors. (Mar. Ct. 1784)

Pg. 28: John Williams vs. (not given) Willis and (not given) Gadbury -"Case of Debt". Gadbury says he paid. Case
cont'd. (Mar. Ct. 1784)

Pg. 41: Meshack Hix paid for 5 bushels of wheat - probably this was supplies for the soldiers during the war. (Mar.
Ct. 1784

Pg. 43: Meshack Hicks pd another amt. for 5 bushels of wheat. (Mar. Ct. 1784)

Pg. 46: Inventory and appraisal of the estate of David Hix returned to ct. This would be in the deed books. (Apr. Ct.
1784)

Betw. Pp. 97-99: Noted that Moses Hicks was deft , in a case. (June Ct. 1784)

Betw. Pp. 141-142: Noted that Moses Hicks was plt. in a case. (July Ct. 1784)

Pg. 175: Wm. Whitlock and wf. Moiley acknowledge a deed from them to Drury Williams. (Oct. Ct. 1784)

Pg. 179: Mary Whitlock relinquishes her dower rts. in the above deed. (Nov. Ct. 1784)

Pg. 205: Wm. Hix paid as a wits, for Geo. Toler, pit. in a case against Peter Parrish. (Nov. Ct. 1784)

Betw. Pp. 207-229: Noted mention of Wm. Hicks. (Mar. Ct. 1785)

Betw. Pp. 308-311: Noted mention of Bartlett Willis, deft, in a case. (May Ct. 1785)

Betw. Pp. 336-361: Noted mention of Wm. Hicks, pit. in a case. (June Ct. 1785)

Pp. 375-376: Josiah Leake, Thos. Eldridge, Meshack Hicks, John Humber (or any three of them) appointed by the ct.
to appraise the estate of John Cox. (Septo Ct. 1785)
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Pg. 406: Judah Whitlock, one of the persons pd. as a witsO for James Johnson, defto in a case with Amy Morgan.
(Sept. Cte 1785)

Pg. 432: Pleasant Willis on a jury. (Oct. Ct. 1785)

Cisley Hicks m. Mitchell Whitlock, April 12, 1791 ["The Douglas Register", compiled by Wm. Douglas, ©1928]

Early 1800s

Goochland Co., VA Chancery Suit - box 1834

Agreement entered into this 2nd day of January 1836 between Elizabeth Hicks, widow of Meshac Hicks dec'd of
one party & Meshach Hicks, John W. Ford & Eliza his wife who was Elizabeth Hicks, Nancy Carroll, Sally Hicks,
Richard Taylor & Sukey his wife, Henry J. Hall & Lucy his wife. All of whom are devisees under the will of Meshac
Hicks dec'd. Witnesseth that in consideration of the said devisees agree to pay in read money to the said Elizabeth
Hicks aforesaid the sum of four huindred dollars and to give her the bed & furniture which she calls hers & a chest,
she agrees to surrender and release unto the whole of the devisees all her interest in the real & personal estate of
her dec'd husband except the negro woman Iris & all her children which were given her in the will, and that the
estate may be devided or ??? of agreeable to the will of her husband with the exception of the aforesaid articles
which are to be her own ??? hereafter as she may think proper. In testamony whereof the parties have here?? set

Henry J. Hall. Witness: Frederick Hicks

Hicks, Meshack, entered service from Goochland Co., VA. Died there. Married there Elizabeth Moreland, who
applied for bounty land warrant there in 1855 at age 87. Action on application not shown. F-BL Register 226005
R1269

Hicks, William: entered service in 1781 from Goochland Co., VA; pensioned there in 1818 at age 73. Was a resident
there in 1820 with wife Ann, age 73. Resident there in 1829; grandchildren are mentioned but not named. A letter
of query was received in 1912 from Annas Stout, Georgetown, KY, descendant of VA Rev War soldier William Hicks,
who md. 5/11/1778 Mary Elizabeth Harris, Goochland Co., VA. He died in KY, possibly in Woodford Co. F-S7016
R1269

Thomas David Hicks who married an Elizabeth Mary Morrell , was the faather of my William . Wm's middle name
was Morrell.

Makes sense! | have the Maralls, Morrills, Morrells back to a birth in 1430 in England

Now am searching for info for Samuel Hicks and Sarah Jane Lewis from 1683-1774.b Tuckahoo Creek , Goochland
Co.,VA and d Granville, NC

Marriages of Goochland County, Virginia, 1733-1815: Elizabeth Harris, dau. of Harrison Harris. witness Moses
Hix, Mary Hix (Wife of John Hix) gives consent.

From: Francis Clark of Louisa County, Virginia and his descendants in Carroll County, Tennessee.

John Hicks that died in 1748 only named his son, David, in the will, however, John Hicks that died in 1772, was the
brother of this David, and all of this group of Hicks remained in close proximity.521 The will of John Hix, 1748, of
Goochland was made Dec. 9, 1747 and probated May 17, 1748. He named his wife Elizabeth and to his son David,
at the wife's death, the land and the rest of the estate was divided among all his children his wife's children and a
grandson, James Johnson Hix. The executor was a son, Thomas Jolly Hix. [Children not named]

The witnesses were Isaac Johnson, James Turner, and Henry Turner.522 Members of family owned and dealt in
land in Louisa County. The inventory of John Hix, dec'd, was valued at L 38/6/7 by Thos. Woodlow, James Johnson,
Isaac Johnson, and recorded on July 9, 1748. 523 In 1754, the list of Wm. Burton listed Elisabeth Hix, David Hix, 1
tithe. On April 20, 1 758, David Hix of Goochland County sold Daniel Johnson for L 30 Virginia money, 100 acres on
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the branches of Geneto Creek and borders with Henry Turner, Sam'l Richardson, and Wm. Johnson's line, being
land and

Records in Augusta County, VA
From Chalkley’s Augusta County Records:

Vol. 2 - Tilman's heirs vs. Dawson---0. S. 259; N. S. 91---Bill, 29th July 1811. Complainants are, viz: Daniel Tilman,
eldest son and heir of Lucy Tilman, by Thomas Tilman, Sr., her husband, and who was formerly Lucy Hix daughter
of Daniel Hix, deceased; Thomas Tilman, Jr.; Richd Marr and Winifred (Tilman); Jesse Mills and Lucy (Tilman), and
the heirs of William Walton and Elizabeth (Tilman) being children and heirs of Lucy Tilman and her husband
Thomas. Daniel Hix died, testate, in Goochland. Daniel's wife was Joan. Lucy (Hix) Tilman died 1768 or 1763 and
Thomas in 180_. Daniel devised a slave to his daughter Lucy and she was sold to Drury Christian, who is now dead,
and said slave and increase are now in possession of Drury Christian's representatives, viz: John Christian,
deceased, leaving Elizabeth Christian, his widow, and children, infants; wife of Pleasant Dawson (daughter of
Drury); , wife of Henry Moorman (daughter of Drury). Answer of Dawson sworn to in Amherst. Will of Daniel
Hix. Wife, Joan; daughters, Lucy and Winifred; cousin, Archer Hix, set of Troopers' Arms. Dated 26th November,
1734. Recorded in Goochland, 15th July, 1735.

Goochland Marriages:

Agnes Hicks (Samuel's Daughter) m. Jacob Woodhall on 5 Oct 1763 (# 9)
Capt. Hicks in this parish & Sylvanus Stokes in Cumberland m. on Sep. 21, 1755 (#9)
Cary Hicks m. Beverly Clark on Nov. 17, 1766 (# 9)

Cisley Hicks m. Mitchell Whitlock, April 12, 1791 (#29)

David Hicks (Samuel Jr.'s son) m. Sarah Lee on 5 Oct 1772 (# 9)

Diana Hicks (Samuel's daughter) m. Nathan Whitlock on Sep. 7, 1756 (# 9)
Elizabeth Hicks m. Joseph Gerrant (Garrand?) in 175_ (# 9)

Henry Hicks m. Betty (Elizabeth? Zaney?) Willis on 24 Oct 1756 (# 9)

James Hicks m. Ann Bellamy, May 17, 1773 (#9)

Jean Hicks m. Jo: Gerrand in 1751

Jesse Hicks m. Mary Grubs on 4 Mar 1770 (# 9)

John Hicks m. Caty Herndon, Dec. 21, 1795 (#29)

Mary Hicks m. Charles Nichols on Jan. 5, 1775

Meshack Hicks m. Ann Dawson on May 5, 1765 (# 9)
Meshack Hicks m. Elizabeth Moreland, June 16, 1787 (#29)

Moses Hicks m. Elizabeth Johnson, July 4, 1786 (?) (#29)

Nancy Hicks m. Bucker Carrell, Dec. 26, 1791 (#29)
Nancy Hicks m. William Singleton, Dec. 15, 1800 (#29)
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Samuel Hicks Jr. m. Eliz: Woodlock in 1751

Sarah Hicks m. Thomas Shoemaker on 30 Jan 1756 (# 9)

Stephen Hicks m. Agnes Hancock in 1758

Unity Hix m. Will Thompson of Louisa - 4 miles - on Ap. 18, 1786 (# 9)
William Hicks m. Elizabeth Harris, May 11, 1778 (#29)

Winifred Hix m. James Bates on 22 Nov 1747 (# 9)

John Hix Senior's will, Lunenburg County - written February 19, 1791 - proved

Goochland County Road Orders 1728-1744

15 June 1731, O.S. p. 127

Surveyor of road--

Daniell Hix is appointed Surveyor of the road
from Buck branch to the County bridge the
titheables of Thomas Randolph deceased
are ordered to clear the Same.

16 July 1734 O.S., p. 273
Surveyor of the Road.
Nicholas Cox is appointed Surveyor of the road in the roam of Jacob Winfrey and Marmaduke Hix.

Hicks, William: entered service in 1781 from Goochland Co., VA; pensioned there in 1818 at age 73. Was a resident
there in 1820 with wife Ann, age 73. Resident there in 1829; grandchildren are mentioned but not named. A letter
of query was received in 1912 from Annas Stout, Georgetown, KY, descendant of VA Rev War soldier William Hicks,
who md. 5/11/1778 Mary Elizabeth Harris, Goochland Co., VA. He died in KY, possibly in Woodford Co. F-S7016
R1269

Hicks, Solomon (Samuels' grandson; Absalom's son) : born on Dan River, VA; entered service at age 14-15 in SC;
later entered service from Surry Co, NC, when he resided on Yadkin River; resided in that County after the Rev.
War, then to SC, then to Franklin Co., GA for 18 years and then to Livingston Co., KY where he was pensioned in
1832 at age 74-75 when resided there 16 years. F-531128 R1269

Hicks, Meshack, entered service from Goochland Co., VA. Died there. Married there Elizabeth Moreland, who

applied for bounty land warrant there in 1855 at age 87. Action on application not shown. F-BL Register 226005
R1269
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Son of Nathaniel; Moved from Goochland.

AMOS HIX WILL

Mecklenburg County, Virginia Will Book 2, page 147,148,149

In the name of God amen, | Amos Hix of Mecklenburg County being in my perfect sences & memory and calling to
mind that all men must die, do hereby make this my last Will & Testament: First | bequeath my soul to God from
whence it came, & body to the earth to be buryed in a christian & desent like manner; As to my wordly estate my
will & desire is that it shall be divided among my children as follows.

Viz, Item | give and bequeath to my Shearwood Hix & to his heirs & assign forever four negroes slaves named Dick
Amy, Sterling and Rose with all their increase from the 22nd day of April 1784.

Item | give and bequeath to my to my son John Hix his heirs forever three negroes slaves named Andrew John &
Barbary with all their increase from and after the 22nd day of April 1784. | also give and bequeath to my said son
John Hix & his heirs & afsigns forever two of my best beds & furniture, six plates, six spoons 4 dishes & half a dozen
chars.

Item | give and bequeath to my son Daniel Hix & his heirs & afsigns forever three negros slaves named Ned Moses
and Betty with all their increase from after the 22nd day of April 1784.

Item | give and bequeath to my sons Shewood Daniel & John Hix & their heirs & afsigns forever all the remaining
part of my house hold goods, the whole of my stocks of cattle Horses sheep & hoggs together with my crop of corn
tobacco & plantation utensls which is to be equally divided among them, but it is to be remembered that in --------
of this last gift that my said three sons, Sherwood Daniel & John are to pay the whole of the debts that may be due
from the estate & are also to pay the whole of the taxes for the present year and it is to be further remembered
that my said three sons are to pay to each of sons Nathaniel & James Hix & to my grandson Shewood Bugg, or to
their heirs the sum of five pounds current money of Virginia.

Item All the lands of which | may die possessed are to be sold to the higest bidder lawfull notice being given of such
sale for money, or tabacco as may appear to be most eligible, & the ------------ , or tobacco arising from said sale of
my lands to be equally divided amongst my sons Sherwood, Daniel & John Hix & my daughters Sarah Jeffries, Mary
Johnstone, Elizabeth Hester, Martha Phillips & Lucy Perdius & to their heirs & afsigns forever but it is to be
remembered that if my daughter Lucy Perdew should be dead or should die between this the 25th day of
December next that her husband or any of her children shall not become a shear in the sale of the lands above
mentioned. | appoint my sons, Shewood; Daniel; & John Hix executors to this my last will & testament In witness
whare of | have hereunto it my hand & seal this twenty fifth day of November 1785.

Signed Sealed & Acknowledged in his Presence of Amos A Hix LS

Thomas Vaughan mark Francis Lewis;

At a Court held for Mecklenburg County the 13th day February 1786 this will was proved by the oaths of Thomas
Vaughan & Francis Lewis the witness there to & ordered to be recorded & on the motion Sherwood Hix Daniel Hix
& John Hix the exors there in named who made oath there to & together with Edward Walton John Marshall &
Field Moore there securities entered into & acknowledged their bond in penality of three thousand pounds
conditioned as the law with certificate was granted them for obtaining a probate there of in due from.

Teste

John Brown ct:cur

201. AYLETT10 BUCKNER (PHILIP BUCKNER9 SR, ANDREWS8 BUCKNER, PHILIP7, THOMAS6, THOMASS, WILLIAM
BUCKNER4 JR., WILLIAM BUCKNER3 SR., RYCHARD2 BUCKNER, RICHARD1) was born 1747 in Louisa Co., VA, and
died Bef. 1810 in Christian Co., KY. He married (1) MARY HODGES. She was born 1759 in Henrico Co., VA, and died
1789 in Henrico Co., VA. He married (2) MARTHA HODGES 09 Jul 1790 in Henrico Co., VA. She was born 1774 in
Henrico Co., VA, and died Aft. 1820 in Christian Co., KY.

More About AYLETT BUCKNER and MARTHA HODGES:
Marriage: 09 Jul 1790, Henrico Co., VA

Children of AYLETT BUCKNER and MARY HODGES are:

i POLLY11 BUCKNER, b. 1778, Henrico Co., VA; d. Aft. 1850, Richmond, VA; m. JESSE HIX, 20 Mar 1799,
Henrico Co., VA; b. 1774; d. Bef. 1850.

More About JESSE HIX and POLLY BUCKNER:
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Marriage: 20 Mar 1799, Henrico Co., VA

ii. AMANDA BUCKNER, b. 1783, Henrico Co., VA; d. Aft. 1840, Macon Co., NC; m. PHILIP GUYER JR,
Christian Co., KY; b. 1781; d. Bef. 1850.

More About PHILIP JR and AMANDA BUCKNER:
Marriage: Christian Co., KY

Francis Clark of Louisa County, Virginia and his ... - Page 104; 2004

John x_Hicks witnessed the will of John Gray of Southwarke Parish, Surry County.518
The Harris family (Mary Harris) were closely associated with John Hicks, father of Cary Clark.

Listed in the Virginia Quit Rolls of land in James City in 1704.

Cary Hicks m. Beverly Clark on Nov. 17, 1766 (# 9)

HIX James Hicks
Born 1729  Goochland County, Virginia Find all individuals with events at this location [1]

Died 1783 Goochland County, Virginia Find all individuals with events at this location
PersonID 14616  Ancestors of Catherine Yvonne King | The Ancestors and Descendants of Johan Jakob
Brown/Braun the "Waggonmaker"

SOURCE NOTES FOR JAMES HIX:

1784 James Hix became guardian to Edmund Leigh

Because of the following Tax List James must have been the oldest male child. St. James Parish is the parish for
Goochland County, Virginia. Amos Hix moved to Mecklenburg after this tax list was made.

James Hix remained in Goochland until about 1777.

RICHD. WITTON, GENT, List of Tithes for 1764 " St. Jas. Parish "

Tithes Land
Amox Hix
James HiXeouvuevveveeeeeiiieneeees 5450

CHARLES ALLEN, GENT
List of Tithes for 1764 Cornwall Parish
Tithes Land

Amos Hix
James HiX...ovvevevrevvveennnne, 5450

James Hicks was born in 1780 in Virginia. He married Susannah A. Beasley, daughter of Robert Easley Beasley and
Ann Winfree. They had nine children. He died in 1852 in Henry County, Tennessee. Ancestors, descendants and
relatives lived mainly in Tennessee, Arkansas and Texas.
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David Hicks (d. 1732) of Chowan County, North Carolina, was probably the son of Thomas and Abigail Hicks of
Swanzey, Massachusetts, and a descendant of Robert Hicks (d. 1653), immigrant to Scituate, Massachusetts, ca.
1630. He and his wife, Elizabeth, had six families. Their son, Captain Thomas Hicks (1725-1797), married Elizabeth
Williams, ca. 1754. They had three sons. He died in Dauphin County, North Carolina. Descendants listed lived in
North Caroline and elsewhere.

David Hicks (ca. 1719-ca. 1792), a son of Samuel Hix (or Hicks) and Diana Willis, was born in Virginia. His wife's
name is not known. They had six children. The family moved to North Carolina, living in two counties before finally
settling on the Watauga River. Many descendants still live in the area.

HICKS FAMILY MARRIAGES Goochland:

Agnes Hicks m. Jacob Woodhall on 5 Oct 1763 (# 9)

Cat. Hicks in this parish & Sylvanus Stokes in Cumberland m. on Sep. 21, 1755 (# 9)
Cary Hicks m. Beverly Clark on Nov. 17, 1766 (# 9)

Cisley Hicks m. Mitchell Whitlock, April 12, 1791 (#29)
David Hicks m. Sarah Lee on 5 Oct 1772 (# 9)

Diana Hicks m. Nathan Whitlock on Sep. 7, 1756 (# 9)

Eliz: Hicks m. Jo: Gerrantin 175_ (#9)

Henry Hicks m. Betty Willis on 24 Oct 1756 (# 9)

Ja. Hicks m. Ann Bellamy, May 17, 1773 (#9)

Jean Hicks m. Jo: Gerrand in 1751

Jesse Hicks m. Mary Grubs on 4 Mar 1770 (# 9)

John Hicks m. Caty Herndon, Dec. 21, 1795 (#29)

Mary Hicks m. Charles Nichols on Jan. 5, 1775

Meshack Hicks m. Ann Dawson on May 5, 1765 (# 9)
Meshack Hicks m. Elizabeth Moreland, June 16, 1787 (#29)
Moses Hicks m. Elizabeth Johnson, July 4, 1786 (?) (#29)
Nancy Hicks m. Bucker Carrell, Dec. 26, 1791 (#29)

Nancy Hicks m. William Singleton, Dec. 15, 1800 (#29)
Sam. Hicks m. Eliz: Woodlook in 1751

Sarah Hicks m. Thomas Shoemaker on 30 Jan 1756 (#9)
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Stephen Hicks m. Agnes Hancock in 1758

Unity Hix m. Will Thompson of Louisa - 4 miles - on Ap. 18, 1786 (# 9)
William Hicks m. Elizabeth Harris, May 11, 1778 (#29)

Winifred Hix m. James Bates on 22 Nov 1747 (#9)

Henrico County

Jesse Hix m. Polly Buckner, March 20, 1799 (#29)

John Hix m. Sarah Grubs, Nov. 25, 1785 (#29)

Robert Hix m. Kathrine Ragsdaile May 18, 1701 (#29)

Hicks Family Goochland County, VA- Births: from "The Douglas Register", compiled by Wm. Douglas, 1928

Absalom Hicks & Mary Haris (sic) - a daughter named Jeanie b. Ap. 20, 1760. Bapt. 1760 Jun 1
Absalom Hicks & Mary Harris - a daughter named Diana b. Dec. 5, 1761. Baptized 1762 Mar. 7

David Hicks & Sarah Lee - a daughter named Nansy born Oct. 5, 1772. Bapt. Ap. 11, 1773
David Hicks & Sarah Lee - a daughter named Elizabeth born Feb. 18, 1775. Bapt. May 7, 1775
David Hicks & Sarah Lee - a daughter named Abba-Lee Reeves born Mar. 26. 1777 Bapt. May 11, 1777

Henry Hicks & Betty Willis - a son named Henry b. Oct. 24, 1756 Bapt. Feb. 27, 1757
Henry Hicks & Betty Willis - a son named Harmon b. Mar. 5, 1760 Bapt. May 4, 1760
Harry Hicks & Eliz: Willis - a daughter named Eliz: born Jan 21, 1762 Bapt. Aug. 15, 1762

Jesse Hicks & Mary Grubs, a daughter named Nansie b. Mar. 4, 1770. Bapt. Mar. 22, 1770
Jesse Hicks & Mary Grubs, a daughter named Sally b. Mar. 13, 1772. Bapt. Apr. 26, 1772
Jesse Hicks & Mary Grub (sic), a daughter called Susan b. May 20, 1774. Bapt. Jul 3, 1774
Jesse Hicks & Mary Grubs a son named John: Casie, b. May 11, 1776. Bapt. Jul. 21 1776

Meshack Hicks & Ann Dawson, a daughter named Betsey b. Dec. 25, 1766. Bapt. Apr. 19, 1767
Meschack Hicks & Ann Dawson, a duaghter named Nancy on Oct. 27, 1769. Bapt. Mar. 25, 1770

Samule Hix (Jr.) & Eliz: Woodlock, a son named Frederick, b. Mar 12, 1756, Bapt. Jun. 7, 1756
Stephen Hicks & Agnes Hancock, a son named Nathaniel, b. May 5, 1759. Bapt. Jul. 1, 1759
Stephen Hicks & Agnes Hancock, a daughter named Winifred, b. Sep. 1, 1760. Bapt. Oct. 5, 1760
Stephen Hicks & Agnes Hancoke (sic), a daughter named Edith, b. Jan. 24, 1762. Bapt. Apr. 9, 1762
Stephen Hicks & Agnes Hancoke (sic), a daughter named Mary, b. May 9, 1763. Bapt. Jun. 26, 1763

David Hicks of Mary Johnson — married 1763 in Goochland, Virginia, [undocumented- might be Granville Co.]

VII. Stephen Hicks (William 2, William 1)
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This son was born on Sept. 20, 1763(Jones, 228). Stephen married Polly W. Pope, daughter of Thomas Pope on
Sept.14, 1795 (Williams, 48). John S[mith?]. Johnson, Stephen’s nephew, was surety for the marriage.

Stephen died intestate in 1835 according to a Goochland County Chancery Case (Go.Co. Chancery Cases, 1835-024
& 1846-001). He was 72 years old. His heirs were suing William R. Hunter, the administrator, in order to settle the
estate. These heirs were Mary Johnson Hicks, wife of Isaac Hicks, William Johnson, Manoah Johnson (an infant),
Samuel D. Johnson and grandchildren Mary Woodson, John Woodson, Richard Woodson, Martha Woodson and
Thomas Woodson underage children of Thomas A. Woodson and Catherine Johnson Woodson.

Stephen left 180 acres of land in Goochland on Byrd Creek bordering Jesse Miller, Ann Tinsley, William Hopkins,
Jesse Hodges, William Terry and John Ware. Stephen’s widow was not mentioned in either chancery case & it
appears that she was deceased by 1835.

| recently came across this and was hoping someone may be working on the parents of Isaac Hicks who was from
Virginia. He married a Mary Johnson, in Tennessee, and they later moved to Rusk Co, Texas. | am trying to confirm
if this might be the parents of Mary that married Isaac. If anyone has any info on this, | would be thankful for the
help. Thank you Vidia

James M. Hicks/Hix, b. c1774, born in Goochland Co., VA., who was a head of household in Lincoln Co., NC., by
1810. He remained in Lincoln Co., NC., through the 1870 census and was age 95 at that time. On the 1860 census
he gave Goochland Co. VA,, as his place of birth.

He may possibly have been living in the home of "John Hicks" in 1800, in Lincoln Co., NC., who was the only Hicks
named as a head of household in that county at that time. John Hicks and the other 'male' in his home at that time
were both in the same age group (free white males 16 to 25). This is the age group that James would have fit into
and they may have been brothers. No others were shown to be in the home.

A neighbor to John Hicks household in Lincoln Co., NC. in 1800 was a man named John Yates. John Yates died by
1805 as a lawsuit regarding his estate is found in the records for that year naming his apparent heirs.

Two involved in the suit were named as Margaret Hicks (also called Peggy in other records regarding this suit) and
Susy Hicks (who | believe was Susannah Hicks, who was named in other records as the name of the wife of James
M. Hicks).

My theory is that John Hicks and James M. Hicks were brothers, and John was the older of the two. | believe they
were living together as bachelors in Lincoln Co., NC., in 1800 together in one home, and living next door to John
Yates. | believe both John & James Hicks married daughters of their neighbor, John Yates, "Margaret married John"
and "Susannah married James." This part is theory, but circumstantial evidence supports it. [the 1800 census of
John Hicks hh showed not only two free white males age 16 thru 25, but also 3 females under 10, 1 female 10 to
under 15 and 1 female 26 thru 44.

So, while | still believe John and James were brothers living in this same hh., | do now believe that either one was
likely married (John) to the female who was 26 to 44 (likely close to age 26), and that the 3 young females under
10 were his daughters...and the one 10 to 15 could have been a sister.

By 1810, John no longer appears on the census, but James does with a female the age of a wife and has children in
his home including 3 females age 10 to 15 who are likely the 3 females under 10 who were in John's home in
1800.]

James M. Hicks and wife Susannah had at least 6 males and 2 females the ages to be their children by the 1820
census. | also believe Susannah died after the birth of the last child, born by 1820 and was not in the home on the
1820 census. The males who | believe for sure were five of their six sons were named:

Miles Hicks, born c1809 (records on his birth vary from 1807-1813

David Hicks, born c1811

William Hicks, born c1813
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Joseph Hicks, born c1814
Singleton Hicks, born c1816

The daughters I'm not sure of, but they may have been named Phoebe and Epsey, as they later appear in
marriages in this county and fit the age profile.

Miles remained in Lincoln Co., after his brothers William, David, and Joseph moved to McNairy Co., TN., with
William going first, then David, then Joseph. Singleton also went to McNairy Co., TN., by 1860, but returned to
Lincoln Co., NC., by 1870.

William was in McNairy Co., by 1831, and David and Joseph were on the census there by 1850. These three
remained in McNairy Co., until their deaths.

Benjamin HIX was a brother to the following: Davis HIX, Willis HIX, Isaiah HIX, William HIX, Nancy HIX who m.
James TARPLEY and an unknown HIX who m. William HALL. Their mother was Betty (Elizabeth?) and father was
either William or Willis HIX. Davis HIX was administrator to his father-in-law's estate. This information was found at
the Archives in Raleigh. These HIXES lived in the Rowan-Davidson-Randolph Co. areas of North Carolina. Isaiah HIX
moved to Brown Co. IL. in the 1830's. Davis died in Randolph Co.NC. What became of the other siblings?

I am "fairly Certain" Samuel HIX was the father of Henry HICKS who died in Caswell Co., NC. His wife was Elizabeth
(?). This Elizabeth moves with several of her children, to Randolph Co., NC and appears on the 1790 census there.
From the Archives in Raleigh, NC | learned their family was: Elizabeth, (who married William HALL,) Nancy (who
married James TARPLEY) both are in Randolph Co., by 1800 census. The sons were: Willis, Benjamin, William, Davis
and Isaiah HIX/HICKS.

Thank you.

Juanita

Caswell County Family Tree, some of which are based upon "The Heritage of Caswell County, North Carolina,"
Jeannine D. Whitlow, Editor (1985) at 579 (Article #792 "William Whitlow -- Nine Generations" by Jeannine D.
Whitlow).

That article, which focuses primarily on the Whitlow family, gives the following on a Samuel Hicks:

Saumel Hicks (died c. 1772) m. Diana Unknown (Willis?)
Diana Hicks m. Nathaniel Whitlow

Diana Hicks and Nathaniel Whitlow were married 7 September 1756 and had five children. They named their
first child and eldest son Goulder Whitlow. He was born 22 January 1759 in Virginia. | thought you would be
interested in this use of the "Goulder" name.

| do have Nancy HIXES siblings. They were as follows:

Elizabeth HIX, married William HALL 16 June 1787 in Caswell Co. They must have moved shortly after their
marriage to Randolph Co., for | find them on the 1790 census there, with 1 male and | female in addition to
themselves. They were living beside Willis HIX,(Nancy's brother,) who married Tabitha Moore, 9 Mar. 1784, also in
Caswell Co., NC. She also had a brother Benjamin, of whom | know nothing about, A William HIX, who is also on the
1800 census in Montgomery Co., NC; a brother Davis -this is MY LINE. He married Rebecca LOFLIN about 1794 in
either Rowan or Randolph Co.NC. The youngest was Isaiah who married a sister to Davis' wife, Mary LOFLIN. This
family moved to Brown Co., IN.

Name: Elizabeth Hicks 1

Sex: F

Reference Number: 29232

Birth: 1747 in Goochland County, Virginia 1

29



Death: 05 MAY 1808 in Caswell County, North Carolina 1

Father: Henry Hicks
Mother: Ann Willis

Marriage 1 Andrew Haddock b: 1742 in North Carolina

Children
Has Children Mary Haddock b: 1765
Has Children Richard Haddock b: ABT 1766 in Caswell County, North Carolina

The Source for the names of the siblings is found in the LOFLIN file at the State Archives in Raleigh. The reason for
its being in the LOFLIN file, is because Davis HIX was executor of his father in law's estate in 1846. From Court
records in Randolph County, | have learned that their mother's name was called Betty. (She witnessed as affray
which involved her son Isiah Hix.) There is also an Elizabeth HIX on the 1790 census, and | believe that to be the
same person. | have also learned that an Elizabeth HIX was married to a Henry HIX who died about 1783/4, in
Caswell Co.(She would of course be a widow-as the Elizabeth of the 1790 census, was.) It is entirely possible that
Henry and Elizabeth could be your Nancy's parents. Need to do a little more research on this.

| see some reference to this family on the Websites, however, the dates they use could not be the same as this
Elizabeth and (Henry's) They would have to have been born around 1735/45 to have had a family as early as 1762,
the approximate date that their daughter Elizabeth was born.

James Tarpley is the son of James Tarpley, Jr. and Tabitha Oldham Tarpley who lived on the Plantation Road near
Present day Keysville, Virginia in Charlotte County Virginia. His father was the second son of James Tarpley, SR. and
Mary Oldham Tarpley who raised a large family in Brunswick County, Virginia having lived there from about 1740
to the late1700's. James, Sr. and Mary Oldham Tarpley came to Brunswick County, Virginia from Richmond County
Virginia. James, Sr was the grandson of James and Mary Biddlecomb Tarpley who were early seettlers in Richmond
County Virginia. The brother of James, Jr. Tarpley (Thomas Oldham Tarpley) also lived in Caswell Co. NC and raised
your James of interest after his brother James, Jr. died at an early age with many children in Charlotte County,
Virginia.

James Tarpley and Nancy Hix (especially the Hix line).

Do you have Nancy's parents and siblings?

| believe James and Nancy had a daughter named Christiana, born about 1797). Christiana married Moses Oldham
in 1816 in Wilson Co., TN. Christiana is my gggg-grandmother. My ggg-grandmother was Nancy Hicks Oldham.
Nancy Hicks Oldham married John M McEwen in 1838 in Madison Co., TN. Their grand-daughter (my g-
grandmothe) was named Lucy Hicks McEwen.

tis possible that this is the Benjamin I'm looking for. | do not know, what became of him, or Willis. Isiah and his
wife Mary, moved to Brown Co., lll. Davis, from whom | descend, stayed here in Randolph County, but | have never
found a grave site. | suppose, like many in early times, he was buried on his own land, with a rock or something to
mark his grave. (Now unknown,) Are you a descendant? Did Benjamin serve in the Rev. War or war of 18127 | have
noted there was a Capt. Benjamin Hix, in some of my notes, but don't know if he is related to these Hixes.

What part of SC did he settle?

Willis Hix
william Hix
NC 1770 Records

[Captain] Thomas Hicks' company of the Onslow County Militia
October 25, 1754 Muster Roll
Daniel Hicks
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